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M‘Donald. Then what does this gentleman do in
his anxiety to keep quit of responsibility? In place
of bringing a multiplepoinding, which he might
have done, or taking some steps judicially to put
himself into the right, while the parties interested
would be allowed to compete for their respective
rights, he actually undertakes to fight the battle
himself, and takes up the cudgels; and when a
demand is made for a delivery judicially, he insists
that he is right, and refuses to give them up. Ido
not mean to say that the Company might not have
been placed in a very different sitnation had they
deposited these goodsin a separate warehouse, upon
being refused by the consignee, and intimated that
to the party who had sent them, guarding them-
selves against competing with those who had an
interest in the goods, and that they might not then
have been freed from liability; but I go entirely
upon this, that at the time these occurrences took
place the eontract of carriage had not come to an
end, and that the responsibilities of that contract
had not been removed from the Aberdeen Com-
pany, as coming in room of the Highland Railway
Company by delivery of the goods, or by depositing
them in some safe place previous to delivery.

Lorp BeEnmOLME—I have listened with great
satisfaction to the opinion which your Lordship
has pronounced in this case, and as I am quite of
the same opinion I do not wish to repeat it.

Lorp NEAvES—I concur.

Lorp JusticE-CLERE—We shall substantially
repeat the findings of the Sheriff-substitute’s inter-
Jocutor with some variation, and find the pursuer
entitled to expenses in both Courts.

Agents for the Appellant—Murdoch, Boyd, &
Co., W.S.

Agents for the Respondents—H. & A. Inglis,
W.8.

Friday, June 25,

FIRST DIVISION.

HUNTER ?¥. LORD ADVOCATE AND OTHERS.

Property—DBounding Title—Foreshore—Possession—
Superior and Vassal — Feu-rights — Barony—
Sea-flood. A superior feued out portions of
his estate lying along a navigable river at a
place where the sea ebbed and flowed, describ-
ing the subjects as bounded by the sea-flood on
the south, and as conveyed with all his rights
and interest in the lands. He did not set out
his own boundary seaward. ZHeld that the
whole right of the superior, sea-ward, was con-
veyed to the vassal, and that the superior
could not lay claim to reclaimed land lying
between the feus and the sea.

David Hunter of Blackness brought this action
against the Commissioners of her Majesty’s Woods
and Forests, and against Kay’s Trustees and others,
proprietors of certain subjects feued out by the
pursuer’'s predecessors, lying to the south of the
Magdalen Yard Road of Dundee, and extending
along the north bank of the Tay, for declarator
that a certain piece of foreshore lying ez adverso of
the defenders’ property belonged exclusively to the
pursuer as proprietor of Blackness. He averred
exclusive immemorial possession. The first named
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defenders disclaimed all interest in the action.

The other defenders relied on their titles, in which

the feus were described as bounded on the south by

the sea-flood, and on possession. After a proof, the .
LordOrdinary (JERVISWOODE), relying mostlyonthe

possession, assoilzied the defenders.

The pursuer reclaimed.

Crark and Bavrour for pursuer,

Ivory for Lord Advoeate.

Solicitor-General, (Youne, Q.C.,) and Tuowus for
Kay’s Trustees.

Grrrorp and MackinTosH for Barrie.

At advising—

Lorp PreEsipENT—The pursuer of this action,
Mr Hunter of Blackness, sets himself out in his
summons as being proprietor of and infeft in the
lunds and barony of Blackness, situated near Dun-
dee; and in the first and second articles of his
condescendence he represents himself as being
proprietor of a barony. Ie says in the beginning
of the second article that the ““lands, barony and
estate of Blackness are situated near Dundee, and
extend for about a mile along the north bank of
the river Tay, which is there a navigable river, in
which the sea ebbs and flows, and which forms the
boundary of the said lands, barony and estate.”
Mr Hunter alleges further in the articles of -his
condescendence, beginning with condescendence
4, and ending with article 7, that he or his prede
cessors feued out certain portions of the estate of
Blackness to the predecessors of the defenders ; but
it is not alleged in any of these articles that the
portions of the estate of Blackness feued out are
within the barony of Blackness. In his summons
he speaks of the lands and barony of Blackness
only in describing his title. In hiscondescendence
he speaks of an estate of Blackness, in addition to
the lands and barony ; and in speaking of the
portions of ground which are feued out, he speaks of
the estate of Blackness alone, purposely excluding
the name of the barony. Thus, in the 4th article he
says:—* By contract of feu dated the 21st day of
February 1767, Alexander Hunter of Blackness,
now deceased, gold and in feu-farm disponed to
Frederick Dederickson, merchant in Dundee, and
his heirs and assignees, ‘all and haill these six acres
of land, being part of the estate of Blackness,
bounded’” so and so. In the 5th article he says
that, on the 26th of September 1767, by contract
of feu between the late Alexander Hunter and
Thomas Mitchel, there was “ sold and in feu-farm
disponed 6 acres, being part of the estate of Black-
ness;” and in the 6th article, “ By feu-contract
between the late David Hunter of Blackness and
William Sturrock, dated in 1789, there was feued
out these parts and portions of the estate of
Blackness then possessed by Alexander Miller and
Thomas Halket.” And in the 7th article he says
—* The several subjects above described are con-
tignous to each other and form that portion of the
estate of Blackness which lies between the property
of the Kirk Fabric of Dundee on the east, and the
Magdalene Yard, &e., on the other side.” Now, T
cannot read these articles of the condescendence
without understanding that Mr Hunter declines to
allege, and purposely abstains from alleging, that
the lands held in feu by the defenders form or
ever formed any part of the barony of Blackness
There is some evidence upon that subject of a con-
flicting kind, not very easily followed, bul clearly
establishing this, that the estate of Blackness is
not all within the barony. And therefore I am not
prepared to hiold that these lands held by the de-
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fenders in feu are or ever were any part of the
barony. The subject which is claimed by Mr
Hunter under the conclusions of his summeons is
thus described in the 11th article of the conde-
scendence. He says—*The effect of the line of
the said railway being constructed as aforesaid
was to cut off from the river Tay the portion
of the said fore-shore lying to the north of
the said line, and between the same and the
southern boundary of the said feus, except in so far
as the tidal and river water ebbed and flowed
through openings or culverts left in the said line
of railway, in conformity with a provision to that
effect contained in the said Act of Parliament. In
consequence of the said space of fore-shore which
lies between high and low water mark having been
cut off by the said line of railway as aforesaid, and
of the ebb and flow of the tidal and river waters
through the said openings or culverts, large quan-
tities of alluvial and other deposit have been left
upon the said space of ground, and the same is
now nearly, and will soon be altogether, filled up
and made solid to the height of high water. The
said culverts and surrounding foreshore are now
filled up by alluvial and other deposit nearly to the
formation level of the railway. The said process
of filling up hasbeen at some parts of the said space
aided by the pursuer Mr Hunter,and othersderiving
right from the pursuer, depositing soil and rubbish
upon the said fore-shore. A considerable portion
of the said space immediately to the east of the
Magdalen Green has thus been already completely
filled up. Some parts of the said space are already,
and the whole will soon be, suitable for building
and agricultural purposes. The space lying be-
tween the said line of railway, and the southern
boundary of the said feus, is the space of soil or
ground mentioned in the conclusions of the sum-
mons.” Now, with reference to this ground, the
condescendence contains also an allegation of pos-
session by Mr Hunter in the sccond article. He
says ‘* The pursuers and their predecessors have for
time immemorial, and they had for time imme-
morial prior to 1847, occupied and possessed as
proprietors the beach or shore down to low-water
mark, lying adjacent to or ez adverso of the said
lands, barony, and estate, and that by all acts of
proprietorship and possession of which the same
were susceptible, and inter alia, by gathering, ap-
propriating, selling, gifting, aud disposing of the
sea-ware, sand, gravel, clay and other materials
thereon as their own property, and by boating
therefrom, and landing and depositing stones there-
on, and shooting sea-fowl, and otherwise. They
have also deposited rubbish on suitable portions of
the said foreshore. The pursuers and their prede-
cessors have so occupied and possessed the said
foreshore without interruption, and to the exclusion
of all others, and, in particular, they have done so
at the portion thereof mentioned in the conclusions
of the summons,” that is the portion particularly
described in the 11th article of the condescendence.
“This exclusive possession of the foreshore had
been had by the pursuers and their predecessors
for greatly more than forty years prior to 1847.”
Now upon these grounds,—the allegation of the feu-
ing only of the portious of the estate of Blackness
to the defenders, the description of the condition of
the foreshore ex adverso of these feus, and the al-
legation of possession contained in the second
article,—Mr Hunter concludes for declarator as
follows,—* that the piece of soil or ground extend-
ing to six acres and 5168 decimal parts of an acre

imperial or thereby,” particularly described, and
being foreshore between the line of railway and
the southern boundaries of the defenders’ feus,—
« pertains heritably in property, and belongs ex-
clusively to the pursuers as proprietors of the said
lands and barony of Blackness, and forms part of
the said lands and barony, as also that none of the
defenders have any right or title in or to the said
soil or ground, or any part thereof, or to exercise
any rights of property therein, Now there is one
obvious objection to this conclusion, because it is a
declarator that this part of the foreshore ex adverso
of the feus of the defenders forms part of the barony
of Blackness, and, so far as I can see, there is no
allegation to that effect in the condescendence, and
still less is there any proof of it. But I am mnot
disposed to rest my judgment exclusively upon
that ground, although I think it a very serions ob-
jection to the conclusions of the summouns, because
I shall take the summons as being capable of being
8o read or restricted as to be a declarator that this
portion of the foreshore pertains heritably in pro-
perty, and belongs exclusively to the pursuer as
proprietor of the estate of Blackness. And the
question comes to be, whether under this summons,
and looking to the state of the facts as disclosed
by the titles and the proof, Mr Hunter is entitled
to a decree in these terms. Now, it is not neces-
sary to say very much about the state of possession
for time immemorial. It does not appear to me
that there has been any great possession in either
the one side or the other. I don’t think either
party takes much benefit by the proof of possession
that has been led, but I am quite clear of this, as
the result of the proof, that the pursuer has entirely
failed to prove that exclusive possession which he
has averred on his record. The possession is rather
on the other side, and, as far as I can see, there is
very little evidence even of a mixed possession oh
the part of the pursuer or his predecessor.

Now, that being so, we next come to consider
the terms and effect of the contract of feu which
are stated in the record ; to see what it is that Mr
Hunter and his predecessors gave out to the de-
fenders and their predecessors in feuing to them
portions of the estate of Blackness. It is enough
to take a single example, for they are all substan-
tially the same. The feu-contract between Alex-
ander Hunter of Blackness and Frederick De-
derickson—the first onementioned in therecord—is
dated the 21st February 1767; and it bears that
Mr Hunter ‘“sold, alienated, and in feu-farm dis-
poned, and by these presents, for payment of the
feu-duty and other prestations after mentioned,
sells, alienates, and in feu-farm perpetually dis-
pones from his heirs and all others his assignees,
to and in favour of the said Frederick Dederick-
son, his heirs or assignees whatsoever, heritably and
irredeemably, all and haill these six acres of land,
being part of the estate of Blackness, bounded by
the lands belonging to the kirk fabrick of Dundee
in the east, the king’s highway, leading from Dun-
dee to Perth, in the north, by a straight line marked
out with march stones betwixt the lands hereby
disponed and the said Alexander Hunter's other
lands in the west, and by the sea-flood on the south
part, which subjects before disponed extend in
breadth from east and west at the north end thereof
to the number of 8 chains, 85 links square over.
and at the south end thereof 8 chains and 42 links
square over of Gunter’s Scotch chain; and also, the
teinds, parsonage and vicarage, of the said 6 acres
of lapd lying within the parish of and
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sheriffdom of Forfar, together with all right, title,
interest, claim of right, property and possession,
which the said Alexander Hunter or his predeces-
sors or authors had, have, or any way might have,
claim, or pretend thereto any manner of way what-
soever.” Now, the contention on the part of the
pursuer is that this is a bounding title, and that
the description by measurement is taxzative of the
extent of the subject. In one sense it may be a
bounding title, but I do not think that the mea-
surement is taxative of the extent of the subject.
It is a bounding title in the sense that each of the
four boundaries,—north, south, east, and west,—
are mentioned in the title, but the south boundary
is the sea-flood, and that may or may not, under
different circumstances, have the effect of a bound-
ing title. Asto the measurement being taxative,
I think that is quite out of the question. The
breadth of the subject is measured by the measure-
ment stated, but not the length of it. There are two
measurements of the breadth, one at the north end
and another at the south end ; but there is no mea-
surement of the length of the subject, and that is
the important measurement in the only question
that is before us here. Mr Hunter has not told us
in this record, and has not shown by his titles, what
the boundary of this part of his own estate was be-
fore he gave it out. Hesays, in general and vague
terms, on the record, that the lands, barony, and es-
tate of Blackness are situated near Dundee, and
extend for about a mile along the north bank of
the river Tay, in which the sea ebbs and flows, and
which forms the boundary of the said lands, barony
and estate. Now, I do not know whether he means
by that to say that he has any title to the subjects
in question which gives as a boundary the river
Tay. If he does mean to say that, then he has not
proved it, for he has not produced any title that
contains such a boundary. I have already given
my reasons for saying that I do not think it is
possible to hold upon this record, and with the evi-
dence before us, that the lands we are dealing
with are, or ever were, part of the barony, and
therefore the absence of a boundary is not to
be accounted for by the notion that the lands in
question were part of a barony. Now, not being
part of a barony, one finds one’s self in this posi-
tion, that Mr Hunter has not shown what his own
boundary in his own title to these subjects was be-
fore they:were feued out. If he had had as a
boundary the river Tay, or the sea, he might have
maintained that his own boundary was a different
one from that which he gave to his feuars, which
is the flood-mark. T do not say whether he would
have successfully maintained it—that is another
question ; but it is not a question before us, because
he has not shown, and apparently cannot show,
that he ever had such a boundary to these lands
as the river Tay, or any other boundary than that
which he assigned to his feuars when he gave out
these lands in feu-contract. It appears to me that

the fair presumption is, that the boundary which

he gave to his feuars when he gave out these lands
in feu was the same boundary as he himself had.
Now that being so, the question comes to be—whe-
ther, as in a question between superior and vassal,
the superior, after feuing out the lands with such
a boundary, is entitled to interject himself be-
tween his fenar and the sea, and to vindicate a
property or an estate in land between the area of
the feu and the existing flood-mark. Mr Hunter
leaves no room for doubt as to what it is that he
demands, because he says that he is entitled to

the exclusive proprietorship and possession of the
space of ground which has been gained from the
sea in the manner described in the 11th article
of the condescendence, and is entitled to use that
ground for building and agricultural purposes.
Now, all I shall say about that is, that that ap-
pears to me o be an entirely unprecedented and,
I think, a most unreasonable and wntenable posi-
tion. I think the fair import of the titles before
us is, that the same boundary by the flood-mark
which formed the boundary of these lands in the
hands of Mr Hunter became the boundary of the
feus which he gave out to his vassals, and that he
has no right whatever to interject himself on any
supposed ground, either of a barony title or of a
title of superiority, between the estate of the feuars
and that boundary which he assigned to them in
his own contracts of feu, viz., the flood-mark,—that
is, high-water mark. If it had not been for the
amount of discussion which has taken place upon
questions of this kind, and the variety of opin-
lons which have been indicated at different times,
I should have thought this too clear almost to re-
quire further observation. Indeed, I think that
the opinion which I have now stated is the fair re-
sult of all the authorities; and I am not aware that
there is any authority adverse to the view which I
have now stated, unless it be the one authority of
Berry v. Holden ; but I think the case of Berry v.
Holden differs in most material respects from the
present, and is very easily explained in such a way
as to be perfectly reconcilable with the conclusions
that [ have arrived at. Nodoubt the case of Berry
v. Holden was a case of superior and vassal, and
not a case of barony title; and so far it is on all
fours with the present. But then, in the case of
Berry v. Holden the pursuer, who was not su-
perior, was not claiming any right of property in
the shore by the conclusions of the summons as Mr
Hunter is here. His proceeding was of the nature
of prohibition merely. No doubt it was a sum-
mons of declarator, but it was intended for the
purpose of restraining the feuar from exercising
rights of property upon the sea-shore adverse to
the rights which the pursuer contended belonged
to him. But he was not contending for any exclu-
sive right of property, or any exclusive right of
possession of that sca-shore. He was merely en-
deavouring to prevent the feuwar from extending
the boundary of his feu by embanking and inclos-
ing a part of the foreshore. In the second place,
it must be observed that in the case of Berry v.
Holden the superior’s boundary was the Tay in the
north, while the vassal’s boundary was the flood-
mark; and that was an element dealt with as one
of very great importance by the Judges in disposing
of that case. That is a material distinction be-
tween the case of Berry v. Holden and the present.
But, in the third place.—and this also was a con-
sideration that weighed very strongly with the
judges in Berry v. Holden,—Mr Berry as superior
had a right of harbour extending over the very
shore that was in dispute, and he had not merely a
right of harbour given in general terms, but he
had a special right, and a power of building piers
and quays upon the very ground that was occupied
and inclosed by his feuars; and therefore he had
a material and direct interest to prevent that ap-
propriation of the ground by his feuar of which he
complained. Forthese reasons, it appearsto methat
the case of Berry v. Holden is no authority adverse
to the opinion which I have just stated. It will
be observed that in what I have said I have not
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considered the nature or effect of the feuar’s rights
at all in regard to this fore-shore, nor do I con-
sider it necessary to do so. As I read this record
and the titles, Mr Hunter has not derived from the
Crown any higher right to the fore-shore than is
given to any other proprietor who holds direct of
the Crown. But, I must take leave to say, at the
same time, that, even if Mr Hunter had possessed
a barony-title, I am not prepared to hold that the
result would have been different. That is not ne-
cessary for the decision of this case in my view of
it; but I am not at all satisfied that it would have
led to an opposite conclusion.  But the case that we
have to deal with is simply the case of superior
and vassal, where the superior, Mr Hunter, holds
direct of the Crown, but not by a barony title : and
in such a case as that T am prepared to hold, as a
general proposition, quite applicable to the circum-
stances of this case, that when a proprietor so
holding of the Crown feus out in the terms which
wehavehere, not giving his feuars a different bound-
ary from that which he himself has, he must be held
to have given out to them all the estate and inte-
rest in the fore-shore which he himself had, what-
ever that may be. What it is I do not inquire.
There are ditlicult questions there behind, between
the superior and the Crown, but whatever it was
he derived from the Crown I think he gave out to
his feuars by these contracts. And therefore, upon
that ground, I am of opinion ithat Mr Hunter
cannot prevail in this action, and that the Lord
Ordinary has come to & sound conclusion,

Lorp ArDMILLAN—Mr Hunter, the leading
pursuer in this action, is proprietor of the lands
and estate of Blackness, situated near Dundee,
and extending along the north bank of the River
Tay, which is there a navigable river, where the
sca ebbs and flows. It seems to be instructed that
part of the pursuer’s lands constitute the barony
of Blackness. No charter of erection has been
produced ; but it appears that in point of fact there
is a barony of Blackness comprehending a large
portion of the pursuer’s estate. The shore of the
Tay, or in other words the sea-shore, appears on
the titles to be the boundary on the south of part
of the lands comprehended in the pursuer’s estate.
1 do not find that the sea or the sea-shore is the
specified boundary of the barony, though it pro-
bably was the actual boundary.

Feu-rights were granted by Alexander Hunter
of Blackness in the year 1767. The first contract
of feu was granted by him on 21st February 1767
to Frederick Dederickson, merchant in Dundee,
and his heirs and assignees, of six acres of land,
¢ part of the estate of Blackness,” bounded by the
sea-flood on the south part.”

The second eontract of feu was granted by the
same -gentleman on 26th September 1767 to
Thomas Mitchell, gardener, Dundee, comprehend-
ing 6 acres, also “ part of the estate of Blackness,”
bounded by the lands feued to Dederickson on the
east, and “ the sea-flood on the south part.”

A third eontract of feu was granted by the late
David Hunter of Blackness on 2d April and 3d
May 1789 to William Sturrock, merchant, and

illiam Chalmers, town-clerk of Dundee, com-
prehending 9 acres 1 rood and 80 falls, “ parts and
portions of the estate of Blackness,” bounded on
the east by certain specified lands, being the
lands feued to Thomas Mitchell, and on the
south ¢ partly by the sea-flood, and partly by the
Magdalen Yard,” of which the pursuer is pro-

prietor. In none of these feu-contracts is there a
taxative measurement of the ground from north to
south. I advert only to the original feu-rights—
for, of course, we have nothing to do with the sti-
pulations in sub-feus. Mr Hunter is in petitorio.
and he can claim no right of which he divested
himself. The terms of subsequent and subordinate
conveyances cannot affect his title; and it is with
his title and his claim that we have now to deal.
It is not instructed by any clear evidence that these
fens, or any of them, are parts of the barony of
Blackness. 1t is possible, and even probable, that
theyare so, but it is not so proved; and I do not think
that the Court can assume as matter of fact that
these feus, or any of them, are parts of the barony.
The granters of these feu-contracts were owners of
some lands which were part ot the estate of Black-
ness, and not part of the barony; and I cannot
perceive any satisfactory materials for arriving at
the conclusion that the lands feued were part of
that portion of the estate which was within the
baronyand not of that portion which was beyond the
barony. Why should we take it for granted, that
these Jands were part of the barony? There is no
presumption to that effect—there is no evidence to
that effect—there are no materials for discrimina-
tion. It is left uncertain. ‘Therefore, if it be
important for the pursuer’s case, I cannot assume
in favour of the pursuer that these feus of Alex-
ander Hunter in 1767, and by David Hunter in
1789, were conveyances of portions of the barony
of Blackness. It is not, however, essential to my
opinion to hold the contrary, Indeed, my opinion
would be the same even if these feus had been
part of the barony.

It is more important to observe the terms of
these conveyances. In all of them the sea-flood is
declared to be the boundary on the south of the
subjeets conveyed ; and from the other boundaries
specified it is clear that the subjects are all situated
along the north bank of the navigable river, and
to the east and north of the Magdalen Yard of
Dundee. The granter of the feu-right in all the
cases, conveys the land, « together with all right,
title, interest, claim of right, property, and pos-
session ” which the granter had, or might claim
or pretend thereto. Nothing can be clearer than
that the proprietor of Blackness conveyed to the
feuars not only the lands, but all the rights and
titles and claims of right or title which he pos-
sessed in relation to these lands, and that he re-
served none, Whatever was the right of Mr
Hunter, that right he conveyed to the feuar, and
whatever was the boundary of Mr Hunter’s estate
at that place, became the boundary of the feuar’s
estate at that place. Nay, more, the special cha-
racter or quality of the marine boundary was the
same after the subjects were counveyed to the
feuar as it had been when the subjects belonged to
the superior. It is not alleged, and certainly not
instructed, that Mr Hunter's own boundary was
different from that which he communicated,

By the formation of the railway between Perth
and Dundee, along the north bauk of the Tay, it
is alleged by the pursuer that a portion of tlie
fore-shore above low-water mark, and below the
medium high tide or flood-mmark, was cut off from
the river; and although some water still passes
into this land through openings or culverts in the
railway, the pursuer alleges that the portion of
ground so cut off from the river, and now lying
to the mnorth of the railway, has been gaincd by
alluvio from the sea, or the navigable river, which
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in this question is the same as the sea. These

averments by the pursuer are not admitted, and it |

has been contended on the evidence that they are
not correct, and that no ground, or at least no con-
siderable extent of ground, has really been gained
from the sea by the construction of the railway.
On this question of fact I am disposed to think
that on this point the preponderaunce of evidence
is with the pursuer, although, as there is a conflict
of testimony, the point eannot be considered free
from doubt. Ishallaccordingly assume that, by the
construction of the railway (a work sanctioned by
Parliament, and executed neither by the pursuer
nor the defenders) a considerable portion of ground
has been gained from the sea alluvione.

The pursuer elaims that ground as his own pro-
perty, and claims the right of using it in all re-
spects as his own property. The defenders, on the
other hand, claim the ground as theirs—as gained
from the sea opposite their feus respectively, and
as falling within their property; and they deny the
right of the pursuer to inferfere between the sub-
jects conveyed to them in feu and the sea-flood as
actnally existing af present. In regard to posses-
sion, I think that the pursuer has had very little,
and that the defenders have not had much. I can-
not say that either party has proved enough of pos-
session to affect this question materially, though
the preponderance in the proof of possession is with
the defenders.

It is important to observe that there is no ques-
tion here with the Crown. It is not necessary, as
I think, to dispose of the question,—what might
be the effect of this alluvial addition to the land,
if the dispute had arisen between the pursuer and
the Crown, or between the feunars and the Crown ?
The Crown’s right is reserved by the Railway Act;
and after the date of the Act, and after the con-
struction of the railway, the Crown, acting through
the ordinary channcls, granted in 1852 conveyances
to the feuars of the portions of the “ground shore
or alveus of the Tay " ex adverso of their properties
below the ancient high-water mark. In any view
of these conveyances by the Crown, it appears to
me that they must, in reference to the subjects now
in dispute, be considered as a waiver of the Crown's
rights to resist the feuars’ claim to the ground
gained from the sea by the construction of the
railway; accordingly, the Crown does not claim
the ground. The question is here raised between
Mr Hunter, who represents the granter of the feus,
and the defenders, who represent the original
feuars; so viewing the question, and taking it up
at the point to which I have now brought it, I
have not felt much difficulty in forming an opin-
ion.

If all the title, and all the claim with reference
to the title, of Mr Hunter, the granter of these feu-
rights, was conveyed to the feuars, then the pur-
suer, representing the granter, has no interest left
in him which the law can recognise as sufficient
to entitle him to raise the question—whether
ground gained from the sea ez adverso of the sub-
jects which he has conveyed away can become the
property of the owner of the land bounded by the
sea? Whatever title to the subject the pursuer’s
ancestor had—whatever title the pursuer could
have had—has been conveyed to the feuars. Hav-
ing totally divested himself of the right and title
of property in the subjeet, and having made no re-
servation in the contract of feu, the grauter of the
feu-right cannot, in respect of his superiority title
only, now interpose between the fouars and the sea.

I am unwilling to enter on more difficult questions,
which are not necessary for our decision, and I
think that this ground of judgment is sufficient for
the disposal of the case.

But, if it were necessary to enter on the larger
question which has been argued, I should be pre-
pared to say tbat, in my humble judgment, the
boundary by the “sea-flood ”” is in its nature a flue-
tuating boundary, meaning the highest point of
ordinary flood-tides; and that if by natural causes,
or by works executed under the high authority of
Parliament, aud not being encroachments by indi-
viduals, the line of the sea-flood has been shifted
50 as to gain ground from the sea, then, in a ques-
tion with the subject-superior, the ground so gained
becomes the property ot the owner of the land ex
adverso of the line of sea-flood boundary so shifted.
If I were to enter on the verbal criticism of the
subject, I should be disposed to think that a boun-
dary by the sea or the sea-flood is, in that view, even
more favourable to the fenar than the boundary by
the sea-shore. But I do not dwell on such criti-
cism.

I do not overlook the distinction between such
a case as the present and the cases of M‘Allister
(7th February 1887, 15 S. 490), of Paterson
v. Lord Aiisa (11th March 1846, 8 D. 752), and
Lord Saltoun v. Park (24th November 1857, 20 D.
89), and others of a similar character. Tlese last-
mentioned cases related to the claims of proprietors
on the sea-shore, either having the sea as a speci-
fied boundary in their titles, or having lands actu-
ally bounded by the sea, to certain shore rights or
privileges connected with gathering of sea-ware,
sea-shells, sea-sand, &c. On that subject, and with
referénce to such uses of the fore-shore, I retain
the opinion which I expressed in the case of Lord
Saltoun v. Paerk on the question there raised, and
I refer particularly to the very able and elaborate
opinion of Lord Wood in the case of Paterson v.
Lord Adlsa. When the boundary of an estate is
the sea-flood or the sea, and where no question is
raised of encroachment on Crown rights, or of in-
jury or disturbance to public uses and purposes of
the sea, I am of opinion that no one can interpose
between such a proprietor and the sea-flood, or the
sea, which forms his boundary. The shifting of
the boundary by natural causes, or by operations
in the exercise of a paramount authority, such as
a statutory work, does not entitle any person, and
particularly does not entitle the granter of the feu-
right, to interpose between the proprietor and tlie
sea, to the effect of giving to that proprietor a dif-
ferent boundary from the sea-flood as it now exists.

In this view I am supported by the opinion of
the first Lord Meadowbank in the case of Campbell
v. Brown (18th November 1813, Fac. Col.), and in
the case of Bowcher v. Crawford (80th November
1814, Fac. Col.).

The opinion of Lord President Campbell in the
case of fnnes v. Downie (27th May 1807, Hume's
Decisions, 8552), which is pointedly adopted by
Lord Moncreiff in the case of Kerr v. Dickson (28th
November 1840, 8 D. 154) is of great authority;
and in a question between two subjects, one repre-
senting the granter and the other the grantee, of
a feu-contract such as this, I cannot help thinking
that these decisions are authoritative illustrations
of the principles which ought to be applied. The
granter of the few having conveyed all his own right
to the feuar cannot deprive that feuar of his bouu-
dary by the sea. The onlyauthorities which are said
to be opposed to the views which I have expressed
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and to the authorities which I have mentioned,
are the decisions in the case of Smart in the House
of Lords (26th November 1797, 3 Pat. App. 306),
and Berry v. Holden jn this Court (10th December
1840, 3 D. 205). The case of Smart was in its
circumstances peculiar, as your Lordship has
already explained. It was a case with the
magistrates of a burgh, and is in many respeets
special, and the judgment therein can be explained
and supported without holding it to be a decision
in opposition to the stream of authorities which I
have mentioned. The case of Berry v. Holden
does present more difficulty. But even in that
case there are specialties. In the first place, the
superior’s boundary in his title was not the same
as the feuars’, and the boundary of the feuars’ title
was not the ‘“sea-flood,” but the “flood-mark,”
whicli may perhaps mean a definite and visible
mark existing at the date of the title, and in that
respect distinguishable from the boundary by the
sea or the sea-flood, which is a fluctuating boun-
dary. I do not rely on this distinetion; but it has
been suggested, and there is certainly a difference
of expression.

In the next place, the pursuer in the case of
Berry v. Holden had under his titles a right of
harbour, and an express right to construct piers,
wharfs and bulwarks for the formation of a har-
bour. And in the third place, as Lord Jeffrey,
who was Lord Ordinary, points out, the encroach-
ment on the shore within the old flood-mark was
in that case by the grantee—the pursuer Mr
Berry only seeking to maintain the existing state
of matters. Now in the present case the pursuer
is interposing. He has no right under hisown titles,
for he is divested,and he has reservedno right in the
title of the feuars. He cannot succeed in this de-
mand unless he can establish a right as created for
his benefit by this alluvial gain, and he is not seek-
ing to preserve the existing state of matters, but he
concludes for declarator of his rights as proprietor,
including of course the exercise of all the powers
of a proprietor, in the ground gained from the sea.
If the pursuer’s action is well founded he may
erect buildings, and he craves declarator of the
right to erect buildings, between the defender’s
subjects and the sea, 8o as to deprive the defenders
of the boundary by the sea-flood which is in their
titles, and to substitute for that boundary the
walls which the pursuer may erect.

It is by no act of these defenders that the line
of boundary by sea-flood has been shifted, and the
alluvial accession of ground obtained. There has
been no enroachment upon their part. The Rail-
way was constructed by others and by authority of
Parliament ; the effect of that construction has
been to gain from the sea the ground which the
pursuer seeks to appropriate, and on which when,
so appropriated, lie claims a right to bunild at his
pleasure.

For this claim of right on the part of the pursuer
I think he has not instructed any sufficient ground
in legal principle or authority, and since there is
no question here with the Crown, or in reference
to the rights of the Crown or of the public uses of
the sea, I am of opinion that the defenders should
be assoilzied from the conclusion of this action.

Lorp KinvocE—The conclusion to which I
have come in this case involves, I think, as
necessary grounds of judgment, considerations of
a somewhat wider scope than those on which the
Lord Ordinary has proceeded.

The case stated by the pursuer of the action, Mr
Hunter of Blackness, is rested on the allegation that
he is proprietor, under a Crown f{itle, of the lands
and barony of Blackness, lying along the north bank
of the River Tay, where that river is navigable, and
the sea ebbs and flows. Under this title hie became,
as he contends, proprietor not merely of the lands of
Blackness, properly so called, but of the adjacent
shores between high and low water mark. The
defenders (uther than the Lord Advecate) hold
under feu-charters granted by a previous proprietor
of Blackness, conveying portious of the estate of
Blackness lying on the bank of the river, and de-
scribing the subject conveyed as * bounded by the
sea-flood on the south part.” By a conveyance thus
worded, the pursuer maintains that there is no
right given to the sea-shore, the boundary of the
subject conveyed being high-water mark. There-
sult was to leave the shore ex adverso of these feus
in Mr Hunter of Blackmess, the superior. By
virtue of this reserved right, the pursuer contends
that he has the exclusive property of the subject
brought into controversy in the present action,
which is a piece of ground lying between high-
water mark and the line of the Dundee and Perth
Railway, and which is now in process of being re-
covered from the sea, and made available for simi-
lar purposes with the adjoining land. Such, in
substance, is the pursuer’s case.

I assume, in disposing of this case, that the
pursuer is right in maintaining that his title to the
lands of Blackness gives him right to the sea-shore
ex adverso of these lands as a part and pertinent of
the lands. I would go still further and say that,
in my apprehension, such is his true legal right. 1
entertain a decided opinion, to the expression of
which I think the parties entitled, that, accord-
ing to our law, the sea-shore is not in patrimonio
principts more than are the adjacent lands. In
legal theory the Sovereign is proprietor of all lands
to which no one else can show a title. When the
Crown gives off lands locally situated on the sea-
shore, I am of opinion that, whether the title de-
clares the sea to be the boundary or not, there is
thereby given off a right to the sea-shore as part
and pertinent of the lands. The right is, and can
only be granted subject to the public uses of the
shore for navigation, fishing, passage, recreation,
and the like. And to the effect of maintaining
these uses there may theoretically be said to be a
trust vested in the Crown. But except to this ef-
fect, I am of opiuion that in such a case no right in
the sea-shore is reserved to or belongs to the Crown.
Professor Bell, in Lis Principles of the Law of
Scotland, sect. 642, expresses what is my opinion
on this subject:—*The shore,” he says, “according
to the law of Scotland, shifts with the shifting of
the tide, always corresponding to the description of
whatever is covered by the sea in ordinary tides.
1t is not, as in England, held to be property re-
gerved to the Sovereign, but presumed to be granted
as part and pertinent of the adjacent land, under
burden of the Crown’s right as trustee for the pub-
lic uses.”

I am of opinion that the doctrine thus laid down
by Professor Bell is amply supported by the decided
cases, running downwards from that of the Mages-
trates of Culrossv. Earl of Dundonald, 15 June 1769,
M. 12,810; from which they may be said to start.
It was decided in that case that a Crown charter
of lands declared to be bounded by the sea con-
veyed to the grantees the right to the beneficial
occupancy of the shore, in preference to an after
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Crown grant, purporting specially to convey the
sea-shore as a reserved Crown property. In an
after series of cases, it was decided not to be ne-
cessary that the sea should be expressly set forth
in the title as the boundary, but that the same
result was operated by the fact that the lands con-
veyed actually lay on the sea-shore. I refer es-
pecially to the cases of Jnnes v. Downie, 27th May
1807, Hume 552 ; Macalister v. Campbell, Tth Feb-
ruary 1837, 156 8.490; Paterson v. Marquisof Ailsa,
11th March 1846, 8 D. 752; Lord Salton v. Park,
24th November 1857, 20 D. 89. It is true that, in
the case of Macalister, the successful party did not
plead the Crown grant except in connection with the
possession alleged tofollow on it ; but indetermining
the question of title, the Court were necessarily
compelled to construe the grant; and could not,
as 1 think, sustain the title to pursue without
finding by implication what one of the learned
judges expressly lays down, *that the conveyance
of an estate which is notoriously bounded by the
sea, conveys the shore as effectually as if the words
‘bounded by the sea’ were in the charter.” The
other cases which I have mentioned involve in
their decision precisely the same assumption.
For although the Crown was not in any of them
directly a party, the construction of the Crown
grant of the adjacent lands, as giving a right to the
shore without any mention of the sea as a boun-
dary, was in all of them compstently brought in
issue by the person whose interference with the
shore was sought to be checked. Except on the
construction I contend for, I conceive that the
preferential right of the adjacent proprietor could
not have been sustained as it was. Iu the present
case, the Crown has appeared as a party, but not
to contest the right claimed by the pursuer; on
the contrary, to give consent that, so far as the
Crown is concerned, decree should be pronounced
in his favour, in terms of the conclusions of the
summons; and the expenses occasioned by the
Crown’s appearance paid to the pursuer.

In the view which I thus take, the only remain-
ing question necessary to be determined is, what
is the effect to be given to the feu-charters from the
proprietor of Blackness, which constitute the foun-
dation of the defender’s rights? In all these feu-
charters, the ground conveyed is expressly set
forth to be a portion of the lands of Blackness.
The question has been raised and largely dis-
cussed, whether they are within the barony of
Blackness ? 1 think the point immaterial; for

whether a barony or not, I conceive the lands of |

Blackness equally to have had attached to them,
under the Crown grant, a right to the fore-shore,
subject to the public uses of the shore. The pro-
prietor of Blackness, in so giving off a portion of
his lands, expressly declares the subject disponed
to be bounded * by the sea-flood ou the south
part.” What, in point of law, is the meaning and
effect of this conveyance ?

I am of opinion that the granter of the deed
thereby gave off to the feu-vassal the whole right
in the fore-shore which he himself held under his
Crown title. I consider nothing whatever to have
been reserved to him between the lands disponed
and the sea. Whether it was competent for him
to have reserved the fore-shore as a separate tene-
ment in his own person, I need not consider. I
am satisfied that, on the legal construction of the
right, he did not do so; but that the fore-shore was
conveyed by him to the vassal as part and perti-
nent of the lands feued, as completely and un-

reservedly as he had previously held it him-
self.

I consider the term “sea-flood” to express that
the lands are bounded by the sea, exactly as if the
term ‘“gea” had been used; or as if, without an
express phrase, the locality of the lands had been
left to imply their boundaries. A great deal of
discussion has occurred in previous cases as to the
meaning of these and analogous phrases, consi-
dercd as indicating the boundaries of lands adja-
cent to the sea. I think that these discussions have
employed a great deal of superfluous ingenuity.
For, generally speaking, I conceive the whole of the
varied phrases to express one and the same thing:
namely, that the property is given as a sea-board
property; and that, being such, the shore is con-
veyed as part and pertinent of the lands, so that
1o one shall be entitled to interpose between the
disponee and the sea. I consider the words *sea,”
“gea-flood,” and *‘sea-shore,” to express all of
them, in this respect, one and the same thing. It
has been contended, with some apparent plausi-
bility, that the term ¢ sea-shore” cannot indicate
a grant of the shore ; because that by which a sub-
ject is bounded cannot be viewed as within the
subject. But this argument ignores what I think
the frue object in using this and all the other
phrases, which was not to draw a boundary line in
the strict sense of the expression, but simply to
make it clear and indubitable that the property
was dealt with as a property on the shore of the
sea ; implying thereby that the shore was given by
the conveyance to the fullest extent to which the
flood of the sea runs out.

In the leading case of the Magistrates of Culross
v. Dundonald, the boundary was declared to be the
sea. But that this was, in legal construction, the
same as if the boundary was declared to be the
“gea-shore,” was evidenced by the decision in the
second case of Culross— The Magistrates of Culross
v. Geddes, 24th November 1809, Hume 5564. The
same extent of shore which the Court had in the
first case found conveyed by the Crown title de-
claring the boundary to be the sea, the Court, in
this second case, found conveycd by a subordinate
grant, in which the ¢ sea-shore ” was declared the
boundary. And this was found where the case
had this peculiarity, that the public highway ran
along the line of high-water mark, so as to create
a clearly defined separation between the lands and
the shore. But this notwithstanding, the shore
was found by the Court to have been not reserved
but conveyed.

In Leven v. The Magistrates of Burntisland, 27th
May 1812, Hume, 555, the boundary was, exactly
as in the present case, declared to be the “sea-
flood.” In Campbell v. Brown, 18th Nov. 1813,
Fae. Coll., the declared boundary was the ¢ sea-
shore.” In Boucher v. Crawford, 30th Nov. 1814,
Fae. Coll,, it was indifferently “sca” or *sea-
shore.” In all these cases,’and with all the variety
of expression of “sea,” ‘‘sea-shore,” and ‘sea-
flood,” as marking the boundary, it was found
that the right to the shore was equally conveyed
to the proprietor of the adjacent lands.

I conceive the general principle settled by these
cases to remain unaffected by any counter autho-
rities. The case of Smart v. The Magistrates of
Dundee, 22d Nov. 1797, 8 Paton, 606, has been
frequently quoted as if determining that ground
bounded by “the sea-flood” did not comprehend
the sea-shore, but excluded it. But I consider
that case to have been decided, not on the general
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principle (about which there was no controversy),
but on the specialties of the title, which bore to
grant an “inclosed yard,” and this situated within
the burgh of Dundee, the magistrates of which, it
was contended, possessed rights of harbour and
other rights over the shore, fairly to be presumed
reserved in a way not applicable to the case of
ordinary proprietors. Such specialties constituted,
so far as can be traced from the only reports pos-
sessed of the case, the grounds on which the ori-
ginal judgment, to an opposite effect, by Lord
Monboddo, was altered by the Inner-House, and
their judgment affirmed by the House of Lords.

The case of Berry v. Holden, 10th Dec. 1840, 3,
D. 205, I conceive also to have been decided on
specialties. If it were not so, I should think it an
erroneous judgment, at variance with the tenor of
the general body of the authorities. The leading
peculiarity of that case is, that the boundary spe-
cified in the disposition by the superior (on the
precise locality of which the superior’s reserved
right depended) was the ¢ flood-mark,”—which
was with great plausibility maintained to signify
high-water mark, and so to exclude the shore.
But, besides this, there were rights of harbour,
piers, and wharfs vested in the superior, the main-
tenance of which was strongly argued to be incom-
patible with an alienation of the shore, and was
thought to indicate a reservation to the superior
of more than usual extent. Iam not prepared to
say that these circumstances are sufficient to justify
the decision ; but at least they serve to explain it
consistently with the maintenance of the general
principle as already expounded.

The case of The Officers of State v. Smith, 11
March 1846, 8 D. 711; 6 Bell’s Appeals 487; is
sometimes cited in connection with those others.
But the report of the judgment in the House of
Lords makes it clear that the operations on the
shore, performed by the proprietor of the adjacent
lands, were found illegal on the special ground
that they were incompatible with the public uses
of the shore, and that thus no general principle,
such as that now brought in controversy, was in-
volved in the decision.

For these reasons, I am of opinion that the pur-
suer possesses no reserved right in the ground now
claimed by him, and that the defenders are en-
titled to absolvitor from the conclusions of the pre-
sent action. The practical result is the same with
that arrived at by the Lord Ordinary; but 1
reach it on different grounds from those assigned
by his Lordship. I do not think the case is one
to be determined by a mere consideration of the
respective possession. The question, in my ap-
prehension, is a question not of possession but of
title. So far as the evidence goes, the prepon-
derance of possession seems to have been greatly
on the side of the defenders, some of whom appear
actually to Lhave their present houses and gardens
within what was originally the line of high-water
mark, a feature of possession than which few can
be stronger. But I forbear further inquiry into
this subject, for I consider the precise extent of
possession on either hand comparatively immaterial
to the determination of the case. If I am rightin
holding that the feuars by their charters obtained
all the superior’s rights to the sea-shore ez adverso
of the subjects conveyed, they do not, in a question
with the superior or those representing him, re-
quire any possession either to constitute or confirm
their right.

I would only further add that, in reaching the

conclusion I have indicated, I lay entirely out of
view the title to the fore-shore alleged to have been
obtained by the defenders from the Crown in 1852.
In the view which I take of the case, the Crown was
thereby disposing of property which had been pre-
viously given off to the proprietor of Blackness.
But the possession of this additional title does not
derogate from the efficacy of what I conceive the
primary right. It affords, in opposition to the
pursuer, the alternative plea, that, either by the
transmission of the original Crown right in the
feu-charters granted by Mr Hunter’s predecessor,
or by their own direct title from the Crown, the de-
fenders possess the entire right to the fore-shore
ex adverso of their feus; and the pursuer’s claim is,
in either view, equally excluded.

Lorp Deas—The question raised here is who
has right to that piece of ground, extending to up-
wards of six acres, upon the shore of the Tay be-
tween the railway and the ground hitherto pos-
sessed by the defenders. It is claimed by Mr
Hunter of Blackness upon the one hand, and by
his feuars upon the other. It is necessary in the
outset to attend to what the nature of the piece of
ground in dispute is. It is a portion of ground
which, until recently, was undoubtedly part of the
fore-shore of the Tay, and which has so barely
ceased to be a part of the fore-shore that it might
have been doubtful whether it was not a part of
the fore-shore still, if it were not that both parties
take it as having ceased to be so, and your Lord-
ships take it as having ceased to be so; and I don’t
object to its being so considered, because if it has
not completely ceased to be a part of the fore-shore,
it has all but so ceased, and it is quite plain that
it would only be postponing the question a little
longer if it were to be dealt with on any other foot-
ing than ground which has ceased to be a part
of the fore-shore. It is material, however to see
how it did cease to be so. I think it is quite clear
that it ceased to be a part of the fore-shore by
what is called alluvio. It is not a piece of ground
gained suddenly from the fore-shore by artificial
operations: it has ceased to be part of the fore-
shore by the gradual changes going on in the state
of the river Tay, and which apparently have been
going on as far back as the matter can be traced.
It is quite clear that a large portion of the ground
possessed by these feuars was within living me-
mory part of the fore-shore. There is no doubt
about that upon the titles and upon the evidence.
There now exists a wall which runs along the
whole south boundary (using that word deserip-
tively) of these feus, betwixt them and the river.
What they have actually possessed as their own
private property hitherto is bounded by a wall, se-
parating them from the fore-shore and the river.
As 1 have already indicated, it is quite clear that
there are considerable portions of ground to the
landward of the wall, which were portions of the
fore-shore. But there neither is, nor can Dbe,
any question about these, because, while it is dis-
tinctly proved that these portions of ground were
part of the fore-shore, it is equally clearly proved
that for considerably more than forty years they
have ceased to be so; and I can have no doubt at
all that any proprietor upon the sea-shore who in-
closes and occupies a portion of the fore-shore, and
possesses it as part of his property under his titles
for more than forty years, is just as secure in that
property as he can be in any other. And accord-
ingly there is no question about that here. One
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important thing to deduce from that fact is that
the retirement of the water of the Tay has been
long going on, and obviously would have gone on
although the railway had never been there. And
the railway which came along that shore, and was
made by virtue of Act of Parliament about 1848,
has had no effect upon this, except perhaps to fa-
cilitate and hasten to some extent that which is
naturally going on. Large culverts or openings
were left under the railway on purpose not to im-
pede the flow of the water, but to allow it to come
up as far as it did before, and it did come up as far
as it did before, and it does so still. The only
effect of the railway has been to impede to some
extent the reflux,—to impede the matter which is
washed up going back again so readily as it would
otherwise have done. The ground we are now
dealing with, I say, has been gained by alluvio
and I hold that it clearly belongs to the private
proprietor upon the shore, be he who he may, and
not to the Crown, in any view which can be taken
of the rights of the Crown. If I am right in that,
it leaves a question only between Mr Hunter upon
the one hand, and these feuars upon the other.
I don’t think, according to any view that can be
taken, or ever has been taken, of the law of Scot-
land, that ground formed from the sea-shore by
alluvio can be claimed from the Crown when the
Crown has parted with the whole property upon
the shore. There is no authority for that, and no
principle for that.

Let us see next what was the title of Mr Hunter,
and how he would have stood if he had never
granted these feus., Mr Hunter is proprietor of
the barony of Blackness, which extends for about a
mile along the north shore of the river Tay. The
barony is situated to the seaward of Dundee, and
where the river Tay forms a large and important
estuary of the sea. Now, I don’t know that
there can be any doubt that the grant of a barony
situated upon the seashore carries to the grantee all
the rights to the shore which usually go along with
the property of the land—carries to him (not to
speak of more important things) the right of pro-
perty in all which happens to be gained by alluvio
from the sea; and, if that be so, it is plain enough
that had Mr Hunter granted no feus upon the
margin of the Tay, this ground would have be-
longed to him. We all know that one peculiarity
of a barony is that there never are any boundaries
mentioned. Everything belongs to the barony
which has been possessed along with the barony.
A grant of barony carries with it many things that
other grants don’t carry. A grant of barony may
carry any of the regalia minora which cau be shown
to be possessed along with it, and 1 am not aware
that there is any room to doubt upon the authori-
ties that the grant of a barony of land upon the
seashore carries to the baron the right to what-
ever may be gained by alluvio from that seashore.
The question therefore comes to be whether, by
granting these feu-rights, Mr Hunter has con-
veyed away the right to ground, whatever the ex-
tent of it may be, which may be gained by alluvio,
opposite the different feus that he has given out.
That this action proceeds upon, or founds upon,
his right and title to that barony, I can have no
doubt at all. The summons sets forth what the
ground is that is claimed—6 acres and upwards—
and then it goes on to say that that ground per-
tains heritably in property and belongs exclusively
to the pursuers, ¢.e., Mr Hunter and his trustees,
as proprietors of the said lands and barony of

Blackness, and forms part of the said lands and
barony, and that the defenders have no right to
this ground. And in art. 2 of the condescendence
it is set forth that considerable portions of the
“lands, barony, and estate-have been from time
to time feued out, and a large portion of the town
of Dundee is built upon feus forming parts of the
said estate. Among other feus the pursuer’s
authors granted those mentioned,” &e. I cannot
therefore entertain any doubt that the action as
laid is quite sufficient to entitle Mr Hunter to
found upon his right of barony, if that he con-
sidered material to his case, and that was not dis-
puted in the whole course of the argument. Now
it must be observed that Mr Hunter's claim to
ground of this kind upon the tore-shore is not
limited. 1 mean—although the question in this
case may be limited to the particular piece of
ground—Ulis title and right is not limited to a
particular part of the ground. What he claims is
those rights in the fore-shore which belong to the
proprietors of a harony extending about a mile
along that fore-shore, extending east of these feus
and west of these feus, and the possession which
he says he has had (whatever may have been the
value of it) is east and west of these feus and
ex adverso of these feus, all in virtue of hLis baronial
title ; and I don’t very well see that there is any
necessity for a very minute inquiry as to whether
some particular feu upon the beach can be shown
distinctly to be a part of the barony or not. If it
be the baronial title alone that carries a right of
this kind, Mr Hunter has it although there might
be some small portions of ground on the margin
which did not form part of the barony. But, apart
from that, although it cannot be perhaps very dis-
tinetly shown whether these particular feus were
purt of the barony or part of a few acres of land,
not more than 18, which seem to have been ac-
quired by the proprietor of the barony some time
or another, we don’t know when, although it can-
not be precisely traced, I can see no presumption
whatever that these feus are part of the 18 acres
rather than part of the barony, which extends all
round them and on both sides of them. On the
contrary, if I were going into it, which I don’t
mean to do, I think the reasons assigned by Mr
Balfour in respect to the title go to show that in
all human probubility, so far as the thing can be
traced, that all these feus were part of the barony,
and I see no gronnd for taking them on any other
footing, though I don’t say it would make any
material difference on the result. Now, if this
ground in dispute would have belonged to Mr
Hunter had he never granted these feu-rights, the
only question that remains is, whether he parted
with that to these feuars, or whether he only gave
them certain limited portions of ground, reserving
all his rights to the barony to any other extent
and effect remaining in him. There are ten feuars
here who are defenders, and it will scarcely do in
a case of this kind to take all their titles in the
slump, and to hold that if any one has a title thut
is somewhat favourable to the feuars, they are all
to be held as in the same position. We must look
at each of these feu-rights to see what they are,
and we have excerpts from them all in the print.
The first is that of Kay’s Trustees, which is de-
scribed as 80 feet 6 inches in breadth, giving the
breadth only, and the northern boundary is men-
tioned, and the south boundary is stated to be the
sea-flood. I would just remark here that no perti-
nents are conveyed with that feu-right, nor, so far
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a3 I see, with any of these feu-rights. Now, it
would look a little startling to suppose, even upon
that title, ithat it was a title the rights under
which might be extended to any extent into that
which otherwise would have belonged to the grant-
er, because the boundary in the south was stated
to be the sea-flood. But when you came to the
next one, viz., Thomas Nicholson’s, we find that
what is conveyed to Mr Nicholson is 438} falls
Scotch measure, with no pertinents at all, bounded
by the sea-flood upon the south. T don’t say that
that measurement is taxative, although it is very
near it, but unquestionably it is a very important
element in considering what it was that was in-
tended or understood to be conveyed by that feu-
right. It is described as 43} falls Scotch measure.
It isnot 48} falls Scotch measure thereby,” words
which would have given very considerable latitude,
but it is 43} falls Scotch measure, and I don't have
in my memory at this moment any case which’has
gone the length of holding that not to be taxzative.
The next disposition is to John Kerr’s Trustees, and
that is a piece of ground bounded by the sea-flood
on the south. Then Mackay’s Trustees have a piece
of ground 74 feet from east to west, bounded by the
sea-flood upon the south. Robert Mackenzie's title
is ** all and whole that space of fore-shore or alveus
of the river Tay ex adverso,” &c. The proprietor of
Blackness deals there with the foreshore as that
which he was entitled to convey to the fenar, and
it is expressly stated to be a portion of that
foreshore which belonged to him, and which
alone was conveyed to that feuar. The next title
is that of Miss Macpherson and others, conveying
« ]l and haill that small spot of ground in the
south side of the road leading from the Nether-
gate Port of Dundee to the Magdalene Yard, being
a part of these six acres of land of the ground of
Blackness, feued out and disponed by Alexander
Hunter of Blackness to the said Thomas Mitchell,
and which spot or piece of ground is bounded " so
and so, and the boundary there again is the sea-
flood on the south. The next one is that of John
and William Thoms—¢ all and whole that piece of
ground as now inclosed with a stone wall or dyke,
lying,” so and so. Is there anything there con-
veyed outside the dyke? [ know no rule of con-
struction that has ever been recognised that will
construe that in any other way than as taxative—
that the thing conveyed is that which lies within
and is inclosed by that dyke; and when you come
to the boundaries this is described only as a part
of six acres feued to Mitchell by Mr Hunter,—
<« which piece of ground before disponed is bounded
by the ground still belonging to me on the east,
by the sea-flood on the south.” Besides the
impossibility of that fenar claiming anything out-
side of that wall, you have here the strongest pos-
sible illustration of the meaning of these grants,—
that bounded by the sea-flood does not imply a
right to anything beyond the sea-flood, because
here the piece of ground which is conveyed as
inclosed by a wall is still mentioned as bounded
by tie sea-flood, showing that there the sea-flood
and the wall were meant to be synonymous, and
that it was not in the contemplation of the granter
or the feuar that he would be enabled to extend
his possession beyond that wall. The next title
is that of Paterson & Low, and the first title con-
veys 3 acres of land, in which there is no mention
of sea-flood at all. The next title, which conveys
a part I suppose of these three acres, conveys “all
and whole that piece of ground, consisting of 18

falls or thereby, lying,” so and so. And that is
described as bounded by the sea-flood. Then we
have the title of Barrie which conveys a piece of
ground, and that is bounded by the sea-flood like the
first one alluded to. Lastly, we have the title of
Garland’s Trustees, conveying ¢ all and whole that
piece of ground, being part of the Marine Garden
lying on the south side of the road leading to the
Magdalen Yard, which piece of ground hereby dis-
poned is situated immediately to the wesiward of
that part of said garden lately disponed by me to
William Barrie, and is bounded by the sea-flood on
the south, by a mutual wall six feet high, &c., on
the east, and by front walls on the north and west
parts, and which walls on the north and west, and
also the sea-dyke on the south, form part of the
property hereby disponed.” The boundary here is
stated to be the sea-flood, and yet the ground is
described as upon the south side of the road lead-
ing to the Magdalene Yard. The sea had ap-
parently come up to that at that time, but the road
and the sea-flood are spoken of as identical, and
the sea-dyke is expressly mentioned as part of the
ground conveyed—showing in thestrongest possible
manner that it was not dreamt of that anything
south of the sea-dyke was conveyed, otherwise that
certainly would not have been necessary. Now
the question to my mind is, whether these are, or
are not, what we familiarly call bounding charters;
and the only conclusion thrt I can come to upon
principle or authority is that they are bounding
charters. What the superior gave out was the
pieces of ground particularly mentioned there, and
the sea-flood on the south is mentioned as a bound-
ary, to show where the grant terminates, just as
much as the boundary upon the north, or the east,
or the west. And I must say that the case of
Berry v. Holden appears to me to be an express
authority to that effect. The boundary there was
the sea-flood upon the north—that was on the other
side of the Tay—and the question was between the
superior on the one hand, and the feuar on the
other, to which of them a piece of barren ground
belonged, which had been gained from the sea,
and on which the feuar had formed a bleachfield,
and built a wall. That was a case very fully dis-
cussed both in written argument and in verbal
argument. I wrote the printed pleadings on the
one side, and I have quite a sufficient recollection of
it to remember that there never was a case more
fully discussed at the bar, and more deliberately
considered by the Court than that was. It was re-
ported by Lord Jeffrey just from its general im-
portance, and particularly in consequence of what
his Lordship considered the startling results to
which any other view than that ultimately taken
by the Court would lead, viz., that a superior giving
ont a small bit of ground of a feu-right might be
giving out hundreds of acres in some cases, and
interfering, as his Lordship observes, with the1ight
of the superior himself to gain thousands of acres
it may be, for he puts in his note the case of a
shallow bay running up into the land for a long
way, which, either by the sea going back, or by a
wall being thrown across the neck of it, might re-
claim from the sca thousands and thousands of
acres; that the feuar who got the little spot of
ground, as it is called in one case, or 23 falls in
another, or the piece of ground surrounded by a
wall, might claim to extend across the whole of
this immense bay,—it was considerations of that
kind which led his Lordship, in place of deciding
the case, to report it to the Inner-House as a case
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of importance in which the whole authorities re-
quired to be considered ; and the Inner-House, after
full discussion and consideration of all the autho-
rities, came to the conclusion that where a feu-
right is granted with a boundary by the sea-flood,
that is a bounding charter beyond which the feuar
cannot go. That is the important thing that the
case decided. They held that the boundary was
the highest mark of ordinary spring tides. That
was ascertained by a remit to a man of skill, and
accordingly that was held fo be the boundary of
the feu. It is quite true, as has been observed by
Lord Xinloch, that there were considerations
brought in aid of that construction, such as that
very vague grant of right of harbour which the
superior had, and some other views of that kind.
But these were only taken ag illustrations strength-
ening the view that this was a bounding charter,
that the mention of the sea-flood on the mnorth
was the boundary of the vassal's right; and, whe-
ther that be a sound decision or not, I do not
hold that sitting here we would be entitled to go
against that decision. It was a well considered
case, it was so decided, and I am disposed to think
it was rightly so decided. Now, taking that view
of the case, and holding that Mr Hunter would
have had this ground if he had not granted these
feus, I cannot think he has parted with that right
by granting them. A superior who grants a feu-
right is never understood to give away any-
thing more. He does not part with his title
even in the ground that he feus. The radical
title remaing in Lhim. The radical title to these
pieces of ground is in Mr Hunter at this mo-
ment. The feu-right as described by our insti-
tutional writers is substantially of the nafure
of a burden on the right of the superior, in so
much that the superior under many circumstances
requires no title back from the vassal at all. If
the vassal, although he has a charter and infeft-
ment, ceases to possess for forty years, and the
superior possess, the superior’s title is perfectly good,
and no conveyance is required from the vassal.
That has been decided in many cases. The doc-
trine was very fully recognised in this Division of
the Court in the case of The Board of Ordinance v.
The Magistrates of Edinburgh, where the magistrates
claimed the property of the esplanade of the castle,
the castle bank, and the ground running round
the base of the rock, and produced an express
Crown Charter giving them all that—and yet it
wag held that they had no right to it at all, that
it belonged to the Crown, because the Crown was
the superior; and, although it had given all that
out in express terms, the possession of it for time
immemorial had been with the Crown and not
with the vassal. That decision was affirmed in
the House of Lords. I see that in the House of
Lords’ report, Mr M‘Queen says that there was
no point of lJaw involved in it. There never was a
case involving more a point of law. It may be, and
very likely was, that that was to be accounted for
in this way, that besides the question of title,
which was the great leading question decided,
there was a subordinate question as to the precise
boundary.
property of the North Loch west of the mound,
and there was a very perplexed and intricate ques-
tion of boundary, and 1 presume from what Mr
M‘Queen says, that when the case went to the
House of Lords, the magistrates found it hopeless
to maintain any longer the claim which they made
here to the property of the whole, and probably

The magistrates undoubtedly had the-

pleaded only that subordinate question of boundary.
But whether that be so or not, the question was
fully discussed and decided. Mr Hunter has the
radical title here to the whole ground of these feus,
as well as to the rest of the barony, subject only to
the burden of what he has given off to the vassals,
aud in my humble opinion that which he gave off to
the vassals was simply thepieces of ground described
as bounded by the sea-flood, subject elways to this,
that if prescriptively they possess beyond this
boundary, that may add to the ground conveyed,
but will not give them right to any ground that
may be gained afterwards in this way from the sea.
It may be a very great hardship in many cases to
a man who has a piece of ground bounded by the
sea, that he ceases to be bounded by the sea.
That hardship applies equally if the right to the
interjected portion of ground was in the Crown,
and if it was in the baron or superior, But surely
it is not to be inferred from that, that if there be
acres and acres of ground which happen to be
added to the shore by the sea receding naturally,
that is neither to belong to the Crown nor to the
proprietor of the barony, but is to belong to the
feuars of the spot of ground or of the falls of
ground. Unless they were to get it, the hardship
would be the same whether it went to the Crown
or to thie superior. I don’t see any principle that
entitles a man in all cases, because a thing is
mentioned as his boundary, to have it for ever to
remain as it was at the time that it was described
as his boundary. But my humble opinion here is,
that Mr Hunter had this right in his Crown grant,
and that he has not given it to those feuars who
Lave mere bounding titles.

Lorp PrESIDENT—I wish to make an explana-
tion in regard to the deseriptions in the feu-rights
to which I referred in giving judgment. I said
that the feu-contracts which are alone mentioned
in this action, and ex adverse of which this fore-
shore lies, were all substantially in the same terms;
and that is so, there is no variance whatever.
There are just three of them,—the 1st, upon page
16 of the print, Dederickson’s; the 2d upon page
16, James Mitchell’s, and the 3d upon page 17,
Sturrock and Chalmers. They are all deseriptions
of precisely the same kind : and the titles that my
brother Lord Deas referred to are all sub-feus, and
seets to me to have no bearing upon the question
what it was that the superior gave out by these
feu-contracts. The form of the interlocutor may
require a little consideration. I think the general
result of the opinions of the majority seems to be
that Mr Hunter has no title to this ground, and
probably some finding to that effect is the proper
foundation for the absolvitor finding that the
pursuer has no title to the property of the ground
embraced in the action, and therefore that he has
no title to prevail in the conclusions of declarator,
and assoilzie.

Lorp Deas—I suppose I am not wrong in
thinking that all these ten people are defenders ?

Mr Cuark—They are all defenders.

Lorp DEas—And that these are the titles they
found upon ?

Mr CLARK—Yes.

Lorp PresipENT—The only thing that T wanted
to explain was this, and I hope my brother has not
misunderstood me, that the whole of my opinion
is founded upon Mr Hunter, the superior, having
given out these feus in these terms, and so T think
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divested himself of all title to the ground in ques-
tion.

Lorp DEas—1I quite understand your Lordship’s
view. Whether it infers that these particulur
feuars had this or no remains behind.

Agents for Pursuer—Gibson-Craig, Dalziel, &
Brodies, W.S.

Agent for Lord Advocate—A. Murray, W.S.

Agents for Kay’s Trustees—Lindsay & Pater-
son, W.S.

Agents for Barrie—Hill, Reid, & Drummond,
W.8.

Saturday, June 26.

AITCHISON v. THORBURN,

Lawburrows—Suspension— Caution. In a suspen-
sion of lawburrows, unless there is prima facie
some evidence of malice and want of probable
cause, the note will only be passed on caution.

This was a suspension and liberation in which
the complainer, Aitchison, sought to have a lawbur-
rows (obtained against him by Thorburn, and under
which he had been incarcerated) suspended. In
the application for lawburrows, which was present-
ed on the 17th May, it was alleged by Thorburn
that the complainer Aitchison had threatened his
life in the month of February last, and that, on the
15th May, he found him trespassing within his
grounds with a loaded gun, when he (Aitchison)
threatened to shoot him, and assanlted him by
kicking him on the legs and throwing stones at
him. In the note of suspension and liberation it
was averred by the complainer Aitchison that, on
the occasion last referred to, he was assaulted by
Thorburn, and that the procurator-fiscal had in
consequence raised a criminal prosecution against
Thorburn, under which he wasconvicted and fined
by the Sheriff, and that the application for law-
burrows was malicious and without probable cause.

The Lord Ordinary on the Bills (Lorp Maxor)
passed the note, and granted liberation as craved,
adding this note :—

« Note.—1It is an admitted fact in this case that,
so lately as the 25th May 18069, the respondent was
convicted and fined in the Sheriff-court of Rox-
burghshire for an assault committed by him upon
the person of the complainer on the 15th day of the
same month; and it appears that, on the 17th
May, just two days after the said assault, the re-
spondent presented a petition to the Justices of
Peace of the county, stating that he had just cause
to dread harm to himself from the complainer, and
setting forth various alleged threats used against
him by the complainer in the month of February
preceding, and more particularly that the com-
plainer had threatened and assaulted him on the
15th day of May current, referring to the very
oceasion on which he, the respondent himself,
was subsequently convicted of being the assailant
aud wrongdoer, and converting what had passed
on that oceasion into a ground of charge against
the complainer. On the same day (17th May) the
respondent appeared before one of the Justices and
made oath to the verity of what was contained in
his petition; and thereupon the Justice, without
further inguiry, or giving the complainer an op-
portunity of being heard, proceeded upon this ex
parte statement and oath to graut wurrant for
serving the petition on the complainer, and order-
ing him, within forty-eight howrs, to find cuntion

of lawburrows under the penalty of £25; failing
whicli, to imprison him until caution be so found.
It is plain that the respondent’s petition, in its
main and most material allegation, was not only
without probable cause, but absolutely false; and
the Lord Ordinary is of opinion that, on that
ground alone, apart from all the other reasons set
forth in the note of suspension, this note ought to
be passed, and interim liberation granted.”

The respondent in the suspension reclaimed.

Solicitor-General (Youns, Q.C.,) and STRACHAN
for reclaimer.

MKI1E for respondent.

Aitchison objected to the competency of the re-
claiming note, on the ground that the Lord Or-
dinary’s interlocutor had Dbeen fully implemented
by liberation without objection on the part of the
reclaimer, and cited Masson, 13 S. 867.—Objection
repelled.

The reclaimer then maintained that, until the
allegations of malice and want of probable cause
were established by legal and competent evidence,
the lawburrows must be upleld by the incarcera-
tion of the complainer, or his finding caution ; and
that, so far from the conviction establishing the
falsehood of the respondent’s allegations, it was
not in any way inconsistent with their truth. The
complainer, after the hearing, offered to find cau-
tion of lawburrows to the extent of £10, and the
Court accordingly recalled the Lord Ordinary’s in-
terlocutor, and remitted to him to pass the note
only on such caution being found.

At advising—

Lorp PRESIDENT—While we are relieved by the
offer of caution now made from determining what
is a very nice question, I think it right tq say that
in no view of the case could I concur with the
grounds of judgment stated by the Lord Ordinary,
for his Lordship says, «* It is plain that the respon-
dent’s petition, in its main and most material alle-
gation, was not only without probable cause, but ab-
solutely false;” while, in point of fact, the main and
material allegation was not the assault committed
in May, which is what his Lordship refers to, but
the allegations of threats made in February * that
he would do for the petitioner,” &e.; and which
there is certainly no reason to suppose are fulse.

But supposing the material allegation to be the
fact of the assault which the respondent alleged
the complainer committed on him on 15th May, it
by no means follows that that allegation is false
because he himself was convicted of an assault on
the complainer, for it may turn out when the re-
spondent has the benefit of his own evidence that
he committed no assault on Aitchison; and theve-
fore I cannot concur with the Lord Ordinary’s view
that the statement is fulse merely because of that
conviction.

Taking away that ground of judgment then, the
only other on which the nofe can be entertained
at all is the allegation that the proceedings are
malicious and without probable cause. At present
that stands on bare averment, without anything
appearing on the face of the record from which the
Court can determine whether it be so or not, and

I think it consists with the practice of the Court

as laid down in many cases, of which the recent
case of Randall is an example, that unless there is
primd facie some evidence of malice and want of
probable cause, the note cannot be passed except
upon caution for lawburrows.

Looking to the position in life of the party here,
I think £10 a fair enough sum.



